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RFP #06-21 Wildfire Fund Claims Review Services Provider – Responses to Questions  
This document contains Answers (A) to Questions (Q) submitted within the designated timeline, for which 
an easily identifiable answer is not contained within the original RFP. Throughout the document, any 
references to “CEA” are understood to mean, “CEA, as Administrator of the Wildfire Fund.” 

Q: Who is the current Third-Party Administrator?  
A: There is currently no Third-Party Administrator (TPA). This RFP is intended to help the CEA 
contract with its first TPA. 

Q: What services would the CEA like to receive that you are not currently receiving? 
A: CEA does not currently have a TPA. CEA has developed the Claims Administration Procedures 
(Procedures) for the Wildfire Fund (Appendix A of the RFP#06-21), which were approved by the 
California Catastrophe Response Council on July 22, 2021. It is now seeking a claims review 
services provider to help implement and administer the Procedures. 

Q: Why is the CEA out to bid? 
A: CEA needs to procure claims review services through a TPA because it does not have the 
capacity to perform these services with existing internal staff.  CEA’s procurement policy requires 
that CEA procure goods and services through a competitive and transparent process. 

Q: If CEA is currently contracting with a vendor for these services, please provide loss runs covering 
the last 5 years.   

A: CEA is not currently contracting with a vendor for these services and there are no loss runs 
available to provide. 

Q: If CEA is currently contracting with a vendor for these services, what staffing model does the 
vendor have in place to provide these services to CEA? 

A: CEA is not currently contracting with a vendor for these services. 

Q: There are 3 participating utility companies today. Are any other utility companies anticipated in 
the next 1-5 years?  

A: No. Section3292 of the California Public Utilities Code sets out the conditions electrical 
corporations had to meet in order to be Participating Utilities in the Wildfire Fund by June 30, 
2020. Only three electrical corporations have met those conditions: Pacific Gas and Electric, 
Southern California Edison and San Diego Gas and Electric. Section 3292(d) does, however, 
authorize an electrical corporation that is formed after July 12, 2019, to participate in the Wildfire 
Fund if the Administrator determines that the electrical corporation meets specified requirements. 
As of the date of this document, the Administrator does not have any indication of the existence 
of any newly formed electrical corporation that would meet the requirements to join the Wildfire 
Fund. 

Q: What is the limit of insurance required for the Utility pursuant to section 3293 Public Utilities 
code?  

A: Pursuant to section 3293 of the California Public Utilities Code, the Administrator has 
recommended that Participating Utilities maintain USD$1 billion for the 2019, 2020, and 2021 
coverage years.  

 
 
Q: Is there a proposed Master Services Agreement (MSA) for this RFP or a standard contract that 
the California Earthquake Authority uses and that we can review, or may we use our company 
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agreement with CEA approved language?  Please advise.  If there is a CEA agreement, are you open 
to language edits to the T'S & C's? 

A: Yes, the Administrator is providing an example claims review services provider agreement 
along with the responses to questions. Within reason, CEA is open to using a vendor’s agreement 
with CEA approved language, and to discussing reasonable edits to the CEA’s example claims 
review services provider agreement. 

Q: Phase 1. Claims Review Readiness (to be performed as agreed with the Administrator in a 
maximum of one year). If the contract starts January 3, 2022 then if selected as the administrators 
TPA, would awarded TPA start Phase 2, January 3, 2023?  

A: If the contract starts January 3, 2022, then the contracted TPA is expected to complete the 
Phase 1 Claims Review Readiness services in a maximum of one year and start the Phase 2 
services on January 3, 2023. However, in the event there are Threshold and/or Eligible Claims 
submitted for reimbursement to the Wildfire Fund, by any of the Participating Utilities, prior to 
the timelines anticipated in this RFP, CEA and the contracted TPA will be expected to reasonably 
collaborate on a workable expedited process for the provision of Phase 2 services. 

Q: Who will be the primary entity, department or individual the selected TPA will be reporting to?  
A: CEA, serving as the Administrator of the Wildfire Fund, is the primary entity responsible for the 
implementation of the Claims Administration Procedures for the Wildfire Fund (Appendix A of the 
RFP#06-21) including claims review and payment. The selected TPA will report to the CEA’s Chief 
Catastrophe Response and Resiliency Officer. 

Q: Would the selected TPA need to have supervisors and or managers in the CEA’s headquarters in 
Sacramento?  

A: No. 

Q: What are the roles and responsibilities within claims administration and what vendor is 
responsible for which activities?  What role(s) are vendors expected to play in regard to Claims 
Program Administrator, Claims Handler, and Claims Strategy design? 

A: CEA does not have a claims administration department for the Wildfire Fund. CEA as the 
Administrator for the Wildfire Fund is responsible for the implementation of the Claims 
Administration Procedures for the Wildfire Fund (Appendix A of the RFP#06-21) with the 
contracted TPA reporting to CEA on the claims review services that are provided. The contracted 
TPA will be responsible for implementing the methods and reporting on the Threshold Claims and 
Eligible Claims review, and a quality control process as described in Sections A, B, C, D, and F of 
Part II of the Claims Administration Procedures (Appendix A of the RFP#06-21). CEA is responsible 
for all final eligibility determinations and decisions described in Sections A, B, C, D, and F of Part II 
of the Claims Administration Procedures (Appendix A of the RFP#06-21). CEA is also responsible 
for communicating the outcome of the review of Threshold Claims and Eligible Claims to the 
Participating Utilities; such communication is not the responsibility of the contracted TPA. CEA is 
not contemplating having more than one contracted TPA (vendor) but, as stated in the RFP#06-
21, it does reserve the right to retain more than one vendor. 
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Q: The RFP states anticipated claims review volume of 300-500 claims.  What is the anticipated 
claim volume? 

A: As described in the Claims Administration Procedures for the Wildfire Fund (Appendix A of the 
RFP#06-21), there are two parts to the claims review process—the review of Threshold Amount 
claims and Eligible Claims reviews. In the RFP#06-21, the Scope of Work, Phase 2 Delivery-on-
Demand of Claims Review Services (page 9) provides the following description of the potential 
Threshold Amount claim population: “The review of Threshold Amount claims for any of the 
Participating Utilities may involve a review of 300 – 500 individual claims as a sample of an overall 
claims pool of between 3,000 – 7,500 claims with a total value of USD$1 billion.” In a given year, 
any or all of the Participating Utilities may submit Threshold Amount claims with a total value of 
USD$1 billion for review by the Wildfire Fund Administrator. Following this review and verification, 
any or all of the Participating Utilities can then provide details of Eligible Claims for review and for 
reimbursement. The volume of these potential Eligible Claims is not known. One of the most 
damaging California wildfires to date was the 2018 Camp Fire which resulted in 18,000 structures 
being destroyed and 85 deaths. If the wildfire-related losses for any of the Participating Utilities 
exceeds the Threshold Amount of USD$1 billion in any given year, there would likely be a 
significant number of potential Eligible Claims for review and potential payment. The contracted 
TPA will need to process the entire claims volume to ensure all claims are valid. Then, a statistician 
provided by the TPA will need to identify a meaningful sample that will undergo more detailed 
claims review and reporting by the TPA.  

Q: What is the expected time frame for this volume of claims (monthly, quarterly, or annually)?  
A: As described in the Claims Administration Procedures for the Wildfire Fund (Appendix A of the 
RFP#06-21), there are two parts to the claims review process—the review of Threshold Amount 
claims and Eligible Claims reviews. CEA expects that there will be one submission of Threshold 
Amount claims by any or all Participating Utilities in a given year. Following this review and 
verification, any or all of the Participating Utilities can then provide details of Eligible Claims for 
review and for reimbursement. The volume and timing of submissions of potential Eligible Claims 
by any or all of the three Participating Utilities is unknown.  

Q: Does seasonality affect the number of claims during any given period?  
A: No. Claims review is the primary service being sought with RFP#06-21, not claims adjusting. As 
of yet, there have been no claims submitted by Participating Utilities.  The volume and timing of 
submissions of potential Eligible Claims by any or all of the three Participating Utilities is 
unknown.   

Q: What is the projected dollar or value range for these claims?  
A: Claims review is the primary service being sought with RFP#06-21, not claims adjusting. 
As of yet, there have been no claims submitted by Participating Utilities to the Wildfire Fund so a 
projected dollar or value range for claims in not available.  

Q: Does the number of claims to be reviewed represent a statistical sample of the population or will 
the volume include only a set of claims over a specific claim value?  

A: CEA is seeking statistical sampling capabilities to perform a credible analysis of large volumes 
of claims and develop a meaningful sample of claims which will then be reviewed in greater detail 
as part of the contracted TPA services. As noted in the RFP#06-21, the Scope of Work, Phase 2 
(page 9) provides the following description of the potential Threshold Amount claim population 
and value: “The review of Threshold Amount claims for any of the Participating Utilities may 
involve a review of 300 – 500 individual claims as a sample of an overall claims pool of between 
3,000 – 7,500 claims with a total value of USD$1 billion.” 
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Q: Are there going to be any claims from 2019 and 2020 fire seasons? If so, how many?  
A: As of September 20, 2021, none of the three Participating Utilities have indicated that their 
wildfire-related losses for either the 2019 or 2020 calendar years will exceed the Threshold 
Amount of USD$1 billion or that they anticipate submitting claims to the Fund. This does not 
mean, however, that there will not be a submission by any of the Participating Utilities for either 
of these years.  

Q: Can you please provide the total recovery dollar amount for 2020? 
A: No. There has not yet been a claim on the Wildfire Fund for 2020. 

Q: Do you have a redacted group of claims that we would be reviewing from the 2019 fires that 
you could share?  

A: No. There has not yet been a claim on the Wildfire Fund for 2019 or 2020. As part of the Scope 
of Work, Phase 1 Claims Review Readiness (pages 7 – 9 in RFP#06-21), the contracted TPA will 
develop and perform testing of a draft Operations Manual, and develop claims data management 
infrastructure, quality control processes, and a personnel and training plan. CEA will invite all 
Participating Utilities to participate in the testing program; however, the contracted TPA must be 
prepared to develop dummy data. 

Q: Can a sample claim be sent for understanding and review?  
A: No, a sample claim is not available for understanding and review. 

Q: Is there a written process for dispute resolution matters?  
A: Section H of Part II of the Claims Administration Procedures for the Wildfire Fund (Appendix A, 
page A-39 of the RFP#06-21), describes the process for resolving disputes in the event any 
Participating Utility claims to be aggrieved by any action or failure to act by the Administrator. 
CEA will be responsible for implementing Section II.H. of the Procedures. The contracted TPA may 
be asked to provide data and testimony as part of any dispute resolution process.  

Q: With regard to B.2 Statistical Methods (page A-28), Item #1, What is the minimum required level 
of statistical significance that the administrator requires when we are selecting a sample of claims 
for more detailed review?  

A: The Administrator is seeking statistical expertise as part of the services provided by the 
contracted TPA. The Claims Administration Procedures (Appendix A of the RFP#06-21) calls for 
the development of statistically meaningful samples of the data to be used in the selection of 
random files for review, as well as analyzing the data, and extracting from the data particular 
information. The Administrator will require that the statistical analyses performed by the 
contracted TPA represent a credible analysis of the data and provide an ability to assess a 
Participating Utility’s execution of reasonable business judgement in its settlement of the 
statistically meaningful sample of claims selected for detailed review. Sampling is subject to 
change depending upon the size of the loss and the volume of claims.  

Q: With regard to B.2 Statistical Methods (page A-28), Item #1, Is there a minimum confidence 
interval and a minimum margin of error that the administrator requires?  

A: The Administrator has not set specific minimums for either the confidence interval or the 
margin of error in any statistical analysis. The Administrator will require that the statistical 
analyses performed by the contracted TPA represent a credible analysis of the data and provide 
an ability to assess a Participating Utility’s execution of reasonable business judgement in its 
settlement of the statistically meaningful sample of claims selected for detailed review. Sampling 
is subject to change depending upon the size of the loss and the volume of claims.  
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Q: With regard to B.2 Statistical Methods (page A-28), Item #3, How does the administrator want 
us to define geographic areas?  Should we be considering zones such as counties and zip codes, or 
does the administrator prefer that we look at selecting geographic zones based on factors such as 
population density?   

A: The development of a meaningful sample may consider factors such as geography. The 
Administrator expects the statistician working for the contracted TPA to determine the 
appropriate geographic areas for analysis. It is likely that any geographic area zonation will vary 
upon the location of Covered Wildfires and will be subject to change depending upon the size of 
the loss and the volume of claims.  

Q: With regard to B.2 Statistical Methods (page A-28), Item #3, As part of our reporting package, 
would it be beneficial to the administrator if we provided an interactive geographic dashboard 
with maps and charts to demonstrate the claims under this item that warrant closer review?  

A: The Administrator is seeking statistical expertise as part of the services provided by the 
contracted TPA. The Administrator welcomes each proposer to describe any added value that 
they believe would be of interest to the Administrator. 

Q: With regard to B.2 Statistical Methods (page A-28), Item #4, Does the administrator have a 
specific listing of “common ratios” that they would like us to consider?  

A: There is no specific listing of “common ratios” as this will likely vary upon the location of 
Covered Wildfires and will be subject to change depending upon the size of the loss and the 
volume of claims. The Administrator therefore looks to the contracted TPA to develop any 
additional statistical methods and procedures as part of the development of the Operations 
Manual as described in the Scope of Work, Phase 1 Claims Review Readiness (pages 7 – 9 in the 
RFP#06-21). 

Q: With regard to B.2 Statistical Methods (page A-28), Item #4, Does the administrator have a 
specific listing of “damage categories” that they would like us to consider? The Procedures 
approved by the Council contain a schedule of the damage categories. What is considered an 
“approved format” for the data?  

A: The Submission of Claims section I.D.2 of the Claims Administration Procedures for the Wildfire 
Fund (Appendix A, pages A-18 – A-19 of the RFP#06-21) describes the following types of 
damages that Participating Utilities are requested to submit an itemization of amounts claimed by 
Third-Party Claimants: Real Property (Structures and Land); Loss of Use/Additional Living 
Expenses; Personal Property/Business Personal Property; Business Income Loss: Crops; Trees; 
Personal Injury, Wrongful Death, Emotional Distress; Fire Suppression Costs; Attorneys’ fees 
recoverable by the Third-Party Claimant as an allowable part of damages; and, Other legally 
recoverable damages. In the Scope of Work, Phase 1 Claims Review Readiness (page 7 – 9 of the 
RFP#06-21), the Administrator is expecting the contracted TPA to work with the Administrator 
and the Participating Utilities to finalize the approved template(s) for the provision of claims data 
as part of the development of an Operations Manual for the claims review services. 
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Q: Are there any sections of the Scope of Work, and Appendix A, Sections A, B, C, D, and F of Part II 
that the “Administrator” is retaining and will not be the responsibility of the TPA? 
For example, Part II, Section D, paragraph five, states, “If the Participating Utility disputes the 
Administrator’s Preliminary Determination of Eligible Claims, within 30 days following the issuance 
of that preliminary determination, or at such later time as the Administrator agrees to allow, the 
Participating Utility must submit to the Administrator any additional information or 
documentation demonstrating the exercise of Reasonable Business Judgment in settling or 
resolving the claims.”  It appears that the TPA would not be determining if the Utility would 
receive more than 30 days’ time but would be receiving the additional information and 
documentation.  

A: CEA is responsible for all final eligibility determinations and decisions described in Sections A, 
B, C, D, and F of Part II of the Claims Administration Procedures for the Wildfire Fund (see 
Appendix A, pages A-22 – A-39 of the RFP#06-21). CEA is also responsible for communicating the 
outcome of the review of Threshold Claims and Eligible Claims to the Participating Utilities; such 
communication is not the responsibility of the contracted TPA. The contracted TPA will be 
responsible for implementing the methods and reporting on the Threshold Claims and Eligible 
Claims review, and a quality control process as described in Sections A, B, C, D, and F of Part II of 
the Claims Administration Procedures (Appendix A, pages A22 – A-39 of the RFP#06-21). The 
contracted TPA will receive the additional information and documentation and be expected to 
review that information. The contracted TPA would not determine if the Participating Utility would 
receive more than 30 days’ time. The contracted TPA will be responsible for receiving and 
reviewing additional information and documentation submitted by the Participating Utilities 
following a preliminary determination of eligibility as described in the Claims Administration 
Procedures (Appendix A of the RFP#06-21). 

Q: Is there an agreed approach for those claims that fall under the Utility for handling prior to 
breaching the threshold?  

A: As noted in section D.1 of Part I of the Claims Administration Procedures for the Wildfire Fund 
(Appendix A, pages A-17 – A-18 of the RFP#06-21), each Participating Utility will develop 
procedures that capture all relevant details regarding Third-Party Claims that have been paid, or 
for which there are binding commitments to pay, in a form compatible with the requirements for 
seeking reimbursement of Eligible Claims from the Wildfire Fund. Through contracted services 
with a TPA, CEA as Wildfire Fund Administrator will implement section C of Part II of the Claims 
Administration Procedures (Appendix A, page A-31 – A-35 of the RFP#06-21), to first review all 
information submitted by a Participating Utility to ensure that all Threshold Amount claims 
resulted from Covered Wildfires and have either been paid by the Participating Utility or for 
which, the Participating Utility has a binding commitment to pay. Claims that the Administrator 
determines were paid on Covered Wildfires will then be evaluated to determine whether the 
amounts paid to reach the Threshold Amount were paid consistent with the exercise of 
Reasonable Business Judgment. This review may include the evaluation of a statistically significant 
selection of representative claims or damage types, claim-by-claim analysis or such other 
methods as the Administrator deems appropriate. 

Q: The client has requested that data be destroyed right away after the termination of the 
agreement, but it is our company policy to retain a copy for our records for an agreed period of 
time. Is the CEA open to this?  

A: Since the nature of some of this data may be highly sensitive, CEA seeks to strike the right 
balance between appropriate, and reasonable, data retention, with making sure CEA, and its 
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vendors, do not hold on to sensitive data longer than necessary. CEA will work with finalists 
during the contracting process to determine a reasonable data retention policy.  

Q: The client has said that they did not want files encrypted, but our internal system is all 
encrypted – please provide clarification for security purposes.  We are happy to discuss this with 
the CEA.  Will this be a problem?  

A: Through the contracting process, CEA is open to discussing data security processes, including 
the encryption of files. CEA must have the ability to view un-encrypted claims data.  

Q: What is the pricing structure and proposed budget for this work?  
A: Because the services will be driven by the occurrence of Covered Wildfires, CEA has not set a 
maximum budget for this work. CEA encourages bidders to propose a pricing structure that is 
scalable to anticipate a low-volume scenario(s), involving only one Participating Utility that barely 
exceeds the USD$1 billion Threshold Amount in a coverage year, as well as a high-volume 
scenario(s) with all three Participating Utilities having large wildfire-related losses in a coverage 
year. CEA will consider proposed costs as part of its proposal decision.  It is recommended that 
vendors consider and, where possible, provide specific pricing structures for Phase 1 and Phase 2 
to reflect the two differing scopes of work. 

Q: Are there any restrictions on pricing structures? Will the CEA pay upfront costs for the 
development of this program?  

A: Regarding restrictions on pricing structures, the answer is no. However, CEA encourages 
bidders to be creative in how they price their services focusing on value and quality. CEA is 
seeking the services described in the Scope of Work section of the RFP#06-21 (pages 7-10) and is 
seeking estimated pricing for all work, services, products, licensing, hosting, implementation, 
consulting, training, maintenance and related expenses, separating rates, hours, and extended 
fees from costs and expenses. This includes all the program development work defined in the 
Scope of Work, Phase 1. Claims Review Readiness. If applicable, proposal submissions must also 
include a comprehensive schedule of hourly rates or fees, or both (or other periodic or project-
based rates or fees for the services described in the RFP#06-21). It is recommended that vendors 
consider providing separate pricing structures for Phase 1 and Phase 2 for ease of submission and 
clarity. 

Q: Does the CEA want access to the TPA RMIS system, if so – how many users?  
A: CEA would like access to the contracted vendor’s system for up to five users.  

Q: We are bound by NDA's with our clients which require their permission to release contact 
information, etc.  Are you good with us providing their contact information if we are selected as an 
RFP winner or finalist rather than providing their information up front?  We are happy to do 
that.  Please advise.  

A: CEA is willing to waive for the provision of client contact information as part of proposal 
submissions but will require client contact details of all finalists for the RFP#06-21.  

Q: In the RFP you ask for the number of instances where we have provided equivalent services, are 
you only interested in a number of cases? Number of years doing this type of work? Or are you also 
wanting additional detailed information?  

A: CEA encourages the provision of detailed information sufficient to determine that the services 
are indeed equivalent services and that there are no irreparable conflicts. 

Q: Will CEA be putting out a revised document for proposers to use for the proposal submission 
guidance OR should we assume an alphabetical / numerical sequence is implied? 

A: Please refer to the addendum noted in the updated RFP#06-21 document. 
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Q: Should pricing be included in the main proposal document? Or as a separate document?  
 A:  Please include pricing within the main proposal document. 

Q: Section VIII. Proposal Submission Instructions: Proposals must be emailed: a) as an attachment 
in PDF format. May we also submit our proposal as a .ZIP file if needed? 

A: Yes, proposals may be submitted as a .ZIP file, so long as the files within the .ZIP file are .pdfs. 

Q: Is there a file size limit? 
A: No, however, if a vendor has any issues sending large files in response to this RFP, CEA will 
work with the vendor to reasonably resolve such issues. 

Q: Is there a page limit? 
A: CEA has not established a specific page limit but strongly encourages proposers to be concise 
and specific with their proposals. 

Q: Section VIII. Proposal Submission Instructions: Vendors are requested to use Calibri or Segoe UI 
font type no smaller than 11 point. 

o May we use 10 pt fonts for tables and graphics? 
o A: Yes 

o May we use 9-10 pt fonts in the headers and footers of our proposal document? 
o A: Yes 
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